#### 537 **National Register of Historic Places Registration Form**

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only 2280 categories and subcategories from the instructions.

1. Name of Property	JUL -1 2016
Historic name: Baker Public School	Net Desister of Historia Diseas
Other names/site number: VDHR File #127-0877	Nat. Register of Historic Places
Name of related multiple property listing:	National Park Service
N/A	

(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing

#### 2. Location

Street & number	er: 100 W. Ba	ker Street		
City or town: _	Richmond	State: VA	_ County:	Independent City
Not For Public	ation: N/A	Vicinity: N/A		

#### 3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,

I hereby certify that this <u>X</u> nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property  $\underline{X}$  meets does not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:

	national		stat	ewide	X	_local
App	licable Na	tional Reg	ister Cr	iteria:		
Х	Α	В	X	С	D	

Julie Sangon	1/23/11/0
Signature of certifying official/Title:	Date

Virginia Department of Historic Resources

State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property \_\_\_\_ meets \_\_\_\_ does not meet the National Register criteria. Signature of commenting official: Date Title : State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

Baker Public School Name of Property Richmond, VA County and State

# 4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that this property is:

- Ventered in the National Register
- \_\_\_\_\_ determined eligible for the National Register
- \_\_\_\_ determined not eligible for the National Register
- \_\_\_\_ removed from the National Register
- \_\_\_\_ other (explain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of A

#### 5. Classification

#### **Ownership of Property**

(Check as many box Private:	es as apply.)
Public – Local	x
Public – State	
Public – Federal	

# **Category of Property**

(Check only one box.)	)
Building(s)	x
District	
Site	
Structure	
Object	

Richmond, VA County and State

# Number of Resources within Property

(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing <u>2</u>	Noncontributing	buildings
<u>      0                              </u>	0	sites
<u>        0                            </u>	<u>     0                               </u>	structures
<u>     0                               </u>	<u>    0                                </u>	objects
<u>2</u>	0	Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register \_\_\_\_\_0

6. Function or Use Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions.) EDUCATION: School

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions.) VACANT/NOT IN USE

Richmond, VA County and State

#### 7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions.) <u>MODERN MOVEMENT: Art Deco</u> LATE 19<sup>TH</sup> AND 20<sup>TH</sup> CENTURY REVIVALS: Colonial Revival

\_\_\_\_\_

**Materials:** (enter categories from instructions.) Principal exterior materials of the property: <u>BRICK; STONE: Limestone, CONCRETE</u>

#### **Narrative Description**

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with **a summary paragraph** that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)

#### **Summary Paragraph**

Baker Public School is located on the block enclosed by W. Charity, St. John, W. Baker, and St. Paul Streets in the North Jackson Ward neighborhood of Richmond, Virginia. The complex is adjacent to Gilpin Court public housing to its north and west, and south of the block Interstate-95/64 parallels W. Baker Street. There are two buildings on the site. The larger is a 1939 school building designed by Marcellus Wright & Son. The smaller is a 1913 annex building designed by Charles M. Robinson to serve the original 1871 school building, which is now demolished. Both standing buildings retain a high degree of integrity. The larger 1939 building is a two-story, arrow-shaped, Art Deco brick building on a raised basement. Its truncated main elevation faces northwest towards the corner of W. Charity and St. Paul streets. The angled brick wings extend along those streets for three-quarters of the block, the building being separated from the sidewalk by narrow grass yards. A mere 13 feet southeast of the larger building sits the Baker Annex, constructed in 1913. This two-story, Colonial Revival, roughly square building on a raised basement sits at a slight angle facing St. John Street. The remainder of the flat block consists of a paved parking lot enclosed by a chain link fence. There are no non-contributing resources on the property.

#### **Narrative Description**

#### Setting

The Baker Public School is located north of Interstate 95/64. Starting in 1957, construction of the interstate cut the school off from the larger Jackson Ward neighborhood, a nationally significant historic district (NHL 1978; NRHP 1976). Although cut off from much of its original

Richmond, VA County and State

neighborhood, the school continued to serve neighborhood children until its closure in 1979. The interstate's construction considerably altered the school's original setting, but the historic urban character is still apparent.

An entrance into the school's parking lot is located on St. John Street; a pedestrian entrance is located on St. Paul Street. The school is surrounded by a minimal amount of vegetation; simple shrubs and a small tree adorn the main entrance. There is a single tree in the southeast corner of the block and a few trees line the sidewalks along St. Paul and St. John Streets. A flagpole sits at the southwest corner of the school yard.

# 1939 Baker Public School

#### Exterior

The 1939 Baker Public School is a two-story, three-wing, arrow-shaped, Art Deco, buff brick building on a raised basement retaining a high degree of integrity with minimal alterations. The main entrance to the school is centered on the truncated point of the arrow facing the intersection of W. Charity and St. Paul streets to its northwest. The long, symmetrical, brick wings extend out from the central entry for approximately 160 feet at an obtuse angle along W. Charity and St. Paul streets. The short stem of the arrow extends approximately 50 feet southeast from the central entry into the parking area and towards the annex building. A flat roof covers the building, hidden by parapet walls with decorative limestone scalloped coping.

The limestone-faced northwestern entry façade is symmetrical with three bays separated by shallow fluted pilasters which draw the eye up, stressing verticality in contrast to the horizontal emphasis on the remainder of the structure. Each bay consists of a partially glazed metal double door. Above the door is a transom covered with a decorative Art Deco metal grille and a curved limestone overhanging lintel. Above the lintels are bas-relief panels depicting the Seal of the City of Richmond, a classical figure in an ornate headpiece, and Seal of the Commonwealth of Virginia. The eye continues up to a steel casement window in each bay. The pilasters and bays end at a large frieze with the school's name inscribed and a stylized dentil band and wave scroll. A bay of four-over-four double-hung sash windows set in buff brick in a common bond at the first and second stories flanks the limestone centerpiece and completes the symmetrical main entry façade.

The entrance is approached by a pair of angled concrete stairs flanked by limestone cheek walls with an Art Deco metal railing. At the front of the wall are two six-over-six double-hung sash wood windows covered with a decorative Art Deco metal grille. Between the windows is a circular bas-relief panel appropriately representing knowledge. Centered in the relief are books and a quill and inkwell. Behind the books are a lamp with smoke rising, a cityscape, and steamships. This relief is currently hidden by landscaping.

The long, symmetrical brick wings extending along W. Charity and St. Paul streets are nearly identical. The elevations along the streets are five-bays. Four of the bays have three six-over-six double-hung wood sash windows at the basement level and a ribbon of four six-over-six double-hung wood sash windows on the first and second floors. Separating each story, and above the

Richmond, VA County and State

second story, are four-course common bond projecting bands of lighter buff brick separated by the darker brick of the rest of the façade.

The bay closest to the main entry façade is differentiated by window configuration and brick ornamentation. The anomalous bay of windows includes an eight-over-eight double-hung wood sash window flanked on either side by four-over-four double-hung wood sash windows at each level of the building. Separating the floors are a solid, lighter buff brick band between the basement and first floor and above the second-story windows. Between the first and second stories are four bands of lighter brick that are the width of the windows.

The horizontal brick bands continue on the end elevations of the two wings, separated by a center bay of limestone cladding. At the basement level are six-over-six double-hung wood sash windows, four on the southwest wing and two on the northeast. Within the limestone-clad center bay is an entrance at the basement level consisting of replacement doors on the southwest wing and the original half-glazed, wood, double doors on the northeast wing. An original metal canopy separates the doors from a ten-light transom. As the limestone bay continues up, there is a long twelve-over-six, double-hung sash wood window corresponding to interior stairwells. The northeast wing has a tall chimney and window vent that served the adjacent boiler room in the basement and a small window vent on the first floor.

Similar masonry and fenestration patterns occur at the rear of each wing with ribbons of four on the first and second stories and three at the basement level and projecting bands of brickwork. Additionally, like the end elevations, there is a limestone-clad bay near the north end of each rear wing elevation, at the juncture of the rear wing. These bays have an entrance, geometric design, and long window also corresponding to an interior stairwell.

There are differences, however, to make allowances for the interior floor plan and use. Just north of each limestone-clad bay is a narrow bay with a single four-over-four double-hung wood sash window at each story to light small, angled rooms inside. At the basement level, the grade is cut away to allow for a lower entrance, just south of each limestone-clad bay, for exterior access to the restrooms. Additionally, the windows at the eastern end of the northeast wing are shorter, three-over-three, due to the ground level. Centered between the ribbons of windows on the first story are small one-over-one double-hung sash wood windows illuminating small personal bathrooms and centered within the brick band beneath the ribbons of windows are small vents.

The plainer box-like rear wing extends southeast from the entry façade to house the school's two-story auditorium and, at the basement level, the cafeteria. The decorative brick bands do not continue on this rear wing and the fenestration reflects the change of interior use. The southwest and northeast elevations of the rear wing are four bays, separated by plain brick pilasters. The land is graded to allow full windows in the cafeteria. These are large awning windows with sixteen lights. The auditorium is illuminated by three bays of large, awning windows with forty lights. Smaller windows at the southern end of the northeast and southwest elevations and on the southeast elevation correspond to the utilitarian interior uses for the kitchen, stage, dressing rooms, and stairwells. The ground has been partially graded along the southeast elevation and

Richmond, VA County and State

windows that had previously lit the kitchen have been filled in or replaced by vents. There are two entrances into the stairwells, on the southeast elevation. Additionally, there is a below grade entrance into the basement kitchen on the northeast elevation.

#### Interior

The arrow-shaped form of the building lends itself well to a school with an entrance lobby, classrooms lining the double-loaded corridor bisecting the angled wings and a cafeteria and auditorium in the rear central wing.

Upon entering the building, the entry lobby has been modified and is now partially enclosed; the enclosed portion has a drop acoustical ceiling. From the lobby, double-loaded corridors extend along the angled wings. The corridors on each floor have the original terrazzo flooring and glazed brick tile wainscoting. Accessing the classrooms and offices are original half-glazed wood paneled doors with tall six light transoms. For added natural light in the corridors, eight light windows pierce the walls above the wainscoting.

A typical classroom has plaster walls and drop fluorescent lighting. In many rooms, wood shelving line the wall beneath the long ribbon of windows, and blackboards and corkboards, to the height of the doors, extend across multiple walls. The first-floor classrooms have vinyl tile floors and some have a bank of metal lockers lining a wall. The second-floor classrooms largely have wood flooring and some have built-in wardrobes along a wall. Many of the classrooms, particularly on the second floor, have been subdivided, though much of the original material remains intact around the new walls. Rooms in the basement have painted brick walls. Nestled at the end of the basement in the northeast wing are boiler and fuel storage rooms.

Many of the offices in the school have been altered with the addition of carpeting, partition walls, and drop ceilings. The former library, over the lobby on the second floor, has been altered with the addition of carpeting and partition walls. The form of the building led to a different configuration of some rooms, most notably the small angled rooms at the juncture of the angled and rear wings, which remain intact.

Stairwells are located at the ends of each angled wing and at the juncture of the wings with the auditorium. They retain their original soapstone steps, pressed steel risers, and metal railing. A basement entrance has been made A.D.A.-compliant with the construction of a ramp.

The rear wing houses the cafeteria in the basement and auditorium/gymnasium on the first floor. The large, open cafeteria has painted brick walls, a drop acoustical ceiling, concrete floor, and painted concrete piers supporting the ceiling. At its southeastern end, a wall with two entrances and two large banks of windows separates the cafeteria from the kitchen. The kitchen has a red tile floor, drop acoustical ceiling, and a mix of glazed brick tile and plaster walls.

A bright and airy auditorium fills the remainder of the rear wing. The stage is centered on the southeastern end; doors on either side lead backstage and to stairwells. Doubling as a

Richmond, VA County and State

gymnasium, the wood flooring is painted for a basketball court. The glazed brick tile wainscoting seen throughout the school also lines the walls in the auditorium.

#### Integrity

Baker Public School retains a significant amount of historic fabric. On the exterior, the simplified Art Deco details of the original design remain intact as do the majority of windows and doors. The designed floor plan, with its central entry lobby opening to double-loaded corridors leading to classrooms and offices in the angled wings and cafeteria/kitchen and auditorium/gymnasium in the rear wing, remains intact. The largest public space, the auditorium, retains its stage, original windows, doors, and finishes. Most of the original corridor doors, windows, and transoms remain intact and in good condition. Original glazed brick tile wainscoting and plaster walls exist in the auditorium, public corridors, lobby, stairwells, and in some classrooms. Most classrooms retain their original black- and cork-boards. Historic terrazzo flooring remains in the lobby and first- and second-floor corridors. The greatest concentration of exposed historic wood flooring exists in classrooms on the second floor. Some classrooms on the second floor retain original metal lockers and many wood wardrobes and cabinets on the second floor remain in their historic configuration.

Though many classrooms and offices have been subdivided, most of the original floor plan for the building has remained in place, including a number of small, triangular-shaped rooms located near the junction of the angled wings and rear wing. Portions of the first-floor office and lobby were modified after a fire in the 1970s. The building retains all four of its original interior staircases and the paired exterior stairs leading to the front door.

#### 1913 Baker Annex

#### Exterior

The Colonial Revival-style Baker Annex sits just south of the 1939 school building. Roughly square in form, the two-story, three-bay building, on a raised basement, sits at an angle facing St. John Street. The red brick of the annex is set in common bond and the raised basement is stuccoed with concrete. Granite steps lead up to the centered, entrance of double wood doors with half sidelights and a transom.<sup>1</sup> The entrance is capped by a brick lintel with limestone keystones. Centered above the entrance is a large, round arched, tripartite window with a brick lintel and limestone keystones and cast concrete sill. The larger, center window is a two-over-two double-hung sash wood window flanked by one-over-one windows. Centered in the arch are fifteen lights; the smaller side windows are covered inside and out. Its placement between stories refers to a centered interior stairwell.

Flanking the center bay is a ribbon of three two-over-two double-hung sash wood windows with a cast concrete sill. A line of smaller windows are at the basement level. A galvanized iron cornice sits atop the second story window, above which a brick parapet wall with cast concrete coping hides the building's flat roof. Two brick chimneys pierce the flat roof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All of the windows and doors are currently boarded on the exterior.

Baker Public School Name of Property Richmond, VA County and State

The north and south elevations are nearly identical with two bays of a ribbon of three two-overtwo double-hung sash wood windows with cast concrete sills on the first and second stories. Within the basement level of the north elevation are five windows. The south elevation differs from the north with the addition of two entrances at the ground level. The west elevation mirrors the front elevation with subtle differences. The centered window is not arched, there is no decorative cornice, and the ground level has been graded at the north end to allow for an entrance into the basement.

#### Interior

The interior of the Baker Annex has a simple floor plan of a single, centered double-loaded corridor with a stairwell at either end. Solid, paneled wood doors with transoms lead from the corridor into four classrooms on the first and second floors. Separating the classrooms are a fireplace, closets and wardrobes. Long, low blackboards continue to extend across most of the walls in each classroom and drop lighting hangs from the ceilings. Wood flooring remains in the corridors and classrooms and some classrooms have been partitioned. Within the basement are restrooms and rooms for manual training, storage, and fuel storage.

#### Integrity

The Baker Annex retains a significant amount of historic fabric. Boarding the windows and doors have allowed for much of the original doors and windows, wood trim, wood flooring, and blackboards to remain intact. Though some subdivision of rooms has occurred, they largely consist of only studs now and the historic floor plan is intact with four large classrooms per floor.

Baker Public School Name of Property

Х

Х

Richmond, VA County and State

#### **Statement of Significance**

#### **Applicable National Register Criteria**

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register listing.)

- A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history.
  - B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.
- C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.
  - D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history.

#### **Criteria Considerations**

(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

- A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes
- B. Removed from its original location
- C. A birthplace or grave
- D. A cemetery
- E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure
- F. A commemorative property
- G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years

Baker Public School
Name of Property

Richmond, VA County and State

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions.) EDUCATION ETHNIC HERITAGE: African American SOCIAL HISTORY ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance

<u>1913 – 1957</u>

#### Significant Dates

<u>1913</u> 1939

#### **Significant Person**

(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) N/A

**Cultural Affiliation** 

N/A

Architect/Builder Robinson, Charles M. Marcellus Wright & Son

Richmond, VA County and State

**Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph** (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any applicable criteria considerations.)

Three Baker School buildings have existed on this site in Richmond's North Jackson Ward neighborhood since 1871. Each was constructed to serve the city's African-American students during the segregation era of public education in Virginia; after integration, the 1939 school remained open until 1979 when the property was converted to serve other educational programs. The two buildings that remain on the site were constructed in 1913 and 1939. The former was designed by Charles M. Robinson and the latter by Marcellus Wright & Son. Baker Public School stands as a reflection of the growth and transition of an important African-American community in Richmond, Virginia, from the first school building's construction in 1871 to the 1939 school building's closure in 1979, as well as the development and changes to the institution of public education as a whole. Additionally, the two standing buildings are good, relatively unaltered examples of public school designs by notable local architects. Baker Public School is locally significant under Criterion A in the areas of Education, Ethnic Heritage: African American, and Social History, and under Criterion C in the area of Architecture. The period of significance is from 1913 to 1957, reflecting the construction date of the Annex building that was originally associated with the 1871 school building (now demolished), and ending in 1957 with the construction of today's Interstate 95/64 immediately to the south of the school property, an event that displaced neighborhood residents and students, and brought with it a population shift towards the city's east end, and the subsequent opening of several new elementary schools there.

**Narrative Statement of Significance** (Provide at least **one** paragraph for each area of significance.)

# Criterion A: Significance for its Role in Richmond's African-American Community and in the Development of the City's Public Elementary Education

Baker Public School is locally significant NRHP under Criterion A for the role that it has played in Richmond's African-American community and in the development of public elementary education in the city. The Baker School stands in the historically African-American neighborhood of North Jackson Ward in Richmond, Virginia, and its site has been associated with the education of young African-Americans for more than a century.

The larger Jackson Ward neighborhood, which had been annexed to the City of Richmond in 1793 and 1810, was initially largely built by German- and Jewish-immigrants. Before and after the Civil War, the neighborhood's demographics shifted and it became an economic, cultural, religious, civic, and educational nexus for Richmond's African American residents. The neighborhood also is significant for its architecture. <sup>1</sup> The exceptional significance of the Jackson Ward neighborhood was recognized first with NRHP listing in 1976 and again in 1978 when the Jackson Ward Historic District was designated a National Historic Landmark. Baker Public School is not included in the historic district due to its separation from the neighborhood by construction of Interstate 95/64 during the 1950s. One aspect of Jackson Ward's significance is

Richmond, VA County and State

its selection as having one of the first three public schools to be constructed in the City of Richmond and the first African-American public elementary school in the city.

The public school system in Virginia originated in the 1869 Reconstruction-era state constitution, which mandated creation of the Commonwealth's first system of free public schools. Federal judge John C. Underwood presided over the constitutional convention, and the resultant document is also known as the Underwood Constitution. Prior to the Civil War, most Virginians had little access to public schooling, while children of only the wealthiest families either attended tuition-based private schools or received in-home private tutoring. After the 1869 state constitution mandated a free public school system, local governments were required to establish and fund schools for children within their jurisdictions. Although the constitutional convention was dominated by "Radical Republicans" dedicated to reforming Virginia's previously slavery-based society, the Underwood Constitution mandated racially segregated public education, with white, African American, and Virginia Indian children attending separate schools. The State Board of Education was established to oversee this new system.<sup>2</sup> Racial segregation in schools, as well as virtually all other aspects of life in Richmond, and throughout Virginia, continued until the post-World War II civil rights movement succeeded in destroying the legal, social, and cultural justifications for segregation.

In June 1869, the Richmond City Council created a local public school system. In 1870, the new Richmond School Board launched an acquisition and development program. The school board purchased three buildings and constructed three others; the three buildings constructed included Bellevue, Leigh School, and Baker Street. In addition to the planned Baker Public School for African-American children, the city incorporated Reconstruction-era Freedmen's Bureau Schools into city schools, including the Colored Normal School (acquired in 1876) and Navy Hill (acquired in 1877).<sup>3</sup>

The city purchased the block bounded by Charity, St. Paul, St. John, and Baker streets for \$3,000 with the intention of building a "colored school."<sup>4</sup> As part of the larger Jackson Ward neighborhood, this northern section, originally known as "Lil Africa," was later renamed Apostle Town (or 'Postletown) for its streets named after saints (St. James, St. Paul, and St. Luke).<sup>5</sup> While the entire block was purchased, less than one-half was intended for the school, and the remainder of the block was to be divided and sold.<sup>6</sup> A 1905 Sanborn map shows that the block was indeed divided and portions not occupied by the school had dwellings.

The new Baker School was designed by African-American architects Boyd and Turpin and constructed at a cost of \$15,500.<sup>7</sup> The school was a three-story, red brick building facing Baker Street. It opened in December 1871 with nine classes serving the equivalent of grades 1 through 9.<sup>8</sup> All classes were originally taught only by white teachers, however in 1882 all African-American schools in the city were given over to African-American teachers and James Hugo Johnson, later president of Virginia State College for Negroes (today's Virginia State University) in Ettrick, became the principal. As described in a 1938 *Richmond Times-Dispatch* article, for many years the Baker School "was considered the best for Negroes in the city, and took in upper-

Richmond, VA County and State

class Negro children from all over the city."<sup>9</sup> By the turn of the twentieth century, the number of students attending Baker School exceeded its capacity of 586 pupils.<sup>10</sup>

With only modest capital, the schools dating to this initial period of school building construction in Richmond were smaller, less numerous, and not as well-constructed and -designed as later schools.<sup>11</sup> The sizes of these schools would prove critical as enrollment in the early twentieth century increased exponentially. In the 1911-1912 school year, the Baker School had 775 students and by 1913, it was found to be "in an insufferably crowded condition."<sup>12</sup> To accommodate this overflow, students were forced to attend school only part time.<sup>13</sup>

A new school superintendent, Dr. J.A.C. Chandler, ushered in the second important period of Richmond public education. Chandler initiated an ambitious building program and appointed Charles M. Robinson as the Public School Architect. The schools constructed between 1909 and 1930 were "more numerous, larger, and superior than earlier schools through their design, materials, and methods of construction."<sup>14</sup>

In response to the overcrowding at Baker Public School, Robinson designed an annex to the original 1871 school in the style of the original building.<sup>15</sup> It was constructed at a cost of \$19,600 and opened in 1914.<sup>16</sup> The Annex had a total of eight classrooms, able to hold 45 students each. Construction of the Baker School Annex helped alleviate the conditions at Baker Public School. However, even before its completion recommendations were being made to abandon the old Baker School and construct a new school. The Supervisor of School Property noted on June 1, 1914, that the 1871 Baker School was in bad condition and in need of paint and general repairs.<sup>17</sup>

The presence of the Baker School in Jackson Ward would prove important for its use by other schools and institutions. When the nearby Colored Normal School building was condemned for school use in 1908-1909, these high school students were placed at the Baker School while Baker students were placed in the Moore School part time.<sup>18</sup> The usefulness of the Baker School soon extended beyond the education of Richmond's young African-American children. During the influenza outbreak of 1918, Richmond's hospitals and emergency hospital reached capacity. At this point the city opened Bellevue Junior High School for overflow white patients and the Baker School for African-Americans.<sup>19</sup>

As population grew, Baker Public School, including the Annex, had surpassed its capacity of 924 students by 1924 when there were 1,037 pupils. Plans for replacing or adding onto the Baker School began as early as the second half of the 1920s, when Robinson made a list of school construction projects that were being delayed.<sup>20</sup> The 1871 school, which had been described as an "antiquated fire trap," would be demolished to make room for the new building.<sup>21</sup> Unfortunately with the onset of the Great Depression, school construction within the city and country would be further delayed.

In June 1933, as part of President Franklin D. Roosevelt's New Deal program, Congress created the Public Works Administration (PWA) to "prepare a comprehensive program of public works" that would create jobs and aid industry through the construction of useful public works of

Richmond, VA County and State

enduring social value."<sup>22</sup> Understanding the importance of education in the country, school buildings were given priority, after waterworks and sewage projects, in awarding funds to non-Federal bodies.<sup>23</sup> Between its founding and 1939, the PWA made allotments for 7,282 educational building projects costing \$1,161,118,000. This was over 40 percent of all non-Federal projects for which the PWA made allotments and accounted for more than 70 percent of all school construction during this period. The purposes of PWA educational allotments was to 1) provide new facility to meet the needs of shifting populations and growing enrollments, 2) replace unsafe and obsolete small buildings with modern, consolidated schools, 3) provide new buildings with modern equipment to replace obsolete and overcrowded buildings without proper heating, ventilation, lighting, or sanitation; and 4) provide needed additions and improvements to existing buildings.<sup>24</sup> Construction of the new Baker School certainly met the first three goals.

The PWA approved a \$156,150 grant for the construction of a new Baker Public School; this amounted to 47 percent of the total cost of the school at \$333,063.99.<sup>25</sup> In addition to standard coursework, Baker Public School's curriculum expanded to offer special vocation courses for its pupils, including home economics and the industrial arts. It was described as "the best equipped and most modern elementary school unit in Richmond, with its modern cafeteria, a talking movie and modern communication system, and a combined auditorium and playroom [gymnasium]."<sup>26</sup> The school opened in September 1940 with a capacity of 1,200 students divided among 28 classrooms and 30 teachers; in that first year there were 1,307 pupils, demonstrating that in spite of the new funds the provision of public education for Richmond's African-American students remained inadequate.<sup>27</sup> However, Baker Public School was built at the same time (within a year) and in the same Art Deco style as Maggie Walker High School, which was also funded by the PWA. The high quality and excellent condition of these two schools stood in stark contrast to the lesser conditions of Richmond's other public schools for African-American students, which were plagued with chronic under-funding.

The continued growth and success of Baker Public School reflects the growth and success of Jackson Ward throughout the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. By the 1930s, the larger Jackson Ward neighborhood was home to approximately 8,000 African-American families. According to Robert P. Winthrop, it "was the center of Negro religious life and education; it was, indeed, the social, economic and political hub of central Virginia's black population."<sup>28</sup> The PWA had a profound impact on education, and aspects of Richmond's development, both inside and outside of Jackson Ward.

In the early 1930s, the PWA moved for the development of public housing in Richmond and, in 1935, proposed the demolition of blocks of substandard housing in Jackson Ward and the construction of hundreds of units of low-income housing.<sup>29</sup> Though this did not occur immediately, the Richmond Housing Authority was formed in 1940 and the following year began work on the first of three "high-standard, low-rent housing projects."<sup>30</sup> Named for the talented African-American actor Charles Sydney Gilpin, this project became Gilpin Court in the North Jackson Ward neighborhood, adjacent to the Baker Public School. After completion of Gilpin Court, enrollment in the Baker School "jumped about 100" while enrollment in other schools declined.<sup>31</sup> The public housing development has remained in constant use, and has been

Richmond, VA County and State

expanded and altered with construction of new housing units, resulting in clearance of additional older building stock.

The Jackson Ward neighborhood was irrevocably and negatively altered in the 1950s. City leaders allowed the construction of the Richmond-Petersburg Turnpike (present-day Interstate 95/64) to divide the neighborhood, isolating Gilpin Court and Baker Public School from the main body of the Jackson Ward neighborhood.<sup>32</sup> For perhaps the first time in Baker School's history, enrollment declined slightly. In May 1957, the *Richmond Times-Dispatch* reported that, "Since January two years ago, about 1,900 Negro families have been evicted from their homes, mostly in slums north of Broad St., to make way for the Richmond-Petersburg Turnpike and other developments."<sup>33</sup> The turnpike was built just south of Baker Street and the school. It is likely that many of the displaced residents moved to the city's east end, which had been undergoing growth and transition to a predominantly African-American neighborhood for several decades. As population grew on the city's east side, the city responded by constructing new elementary schools such as Woodville in 1954 (replacing the original Woodville School) and Fairfield Court in 1957.

With the interstate's construction effectively isolating Gilpin Court and Baker Public School, economic and social activity declined in their immediate vicinity, thus creating conditions for divestment, abandonment, and neglect along the surrounding blocks. By 1966, Baker School was noted as being in one of the "most poverty stricken areas of Richmond."<sup>34</sup> Despite the initial slight dip in Baker School registration after the turnpike's construction, enrollment remained fairly steady but this appears to have been due to the closing of the Navy Hill School and the relocation of students to the Baker School. After years of legal battles, Richmond's public school system fully desegregated during the early 1970s. By this time, however, the decline of the Baker School/Gilpin Court area had resulted in continuing declines in enrollment at Baker. In the 1970-1971 school year, the school had 1,006 students and by the 1978-1979 school year, its final year in operation as a public elementary school, there were only 468 pupils enrolled.<sup>35</sup>

Despite its closing as a public elementary school in 1979, the building continued to be used for educational purposes. Renamed after Katherine Louise Johnson, Baker's principal from 1942 to 1967, the school housed a variety of programs including the Park Program for Pregnant Girls, Follow Through Parent Education Resource Center, and a truancy center. In 2004, the building continued to be used for its intended educational purpose by becoming part of Richmond Public Specialty Schools Capital City Program. This program served students who were disruptive, low-performing, and at risk of dropping out. The building was used as such until recently.

Baker Public School is locally significant under Criterion A in the areas of Education, Ethnic Heritage: African American, and Social History. The original 1871 Baker School was the first public school for African American students constructed by the City of Richmond. Its importance is reflected in the growth of the school leading to the construction of the 1913 and 1939 school buildings on the same block as the original. The site of Baker Public School has been associated with the education of young African-Americans for more than a century.

Richmond, VA County and State

# Criterion C: Significance for its High Architectural Quality and as Notable Works by Locally Prominent Architects Charles M. Robinson and Marcellus Wright & Son

Baker Public School is also locally significant under Criterion C for its high architectural quality. The 1913 and 1939 buildings are notable works by locally prominent architects Charles M. Robinson and Marcellus Wright & Son.

#### Charles M. Robinson

Charles Morrison Robison (1867-1932) worked as a prolific and skilled designer of educational buildings. He served as Richmond Public School Architect during the second significant period of school construction and designed most of the schools for the City that were constructed between 1910 and 1929, as well as numerous schools throughout Virginia.<sup>36</sup>

Born in Virginia, Robinson studied architecture in Grand Rapids, Michigan, under D.S. Hopkins and in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, under the direction of the notable architect John Kevan Peebles. He and his family returned to Virginia and in 1906 he established his professional offices in Richmond.<sup>37</sup> There his early focus was on the design of normal schools and by 1907 he had designed five schools in Virginia and fifteen the following year.<sup>38</sup> Among his larger early successes are multiple buildings at what are now James Madison University, University of Mary Washington, Radford University, and College of William and Mary.<sup>39</sup>

Able to work within the confines set by clients and budgets, his buildings were always "well built, logically planned, efficient and handsome."<sup>40</sup> The Superintendent of Public Schools in Richmond between 1909 and 1919 was Dr. J.A.C. Chandler, a friend of Robinson's. Chandler was "in the forefront of the movement to create a modern school system," and he appointed Robinson as the Public School Architect to oversee the design and erection of new schools.<sup>41</sup>

Robinson's schools plans were standardized, simple, and logical with large, light-filled classrooms facing wide corridors.<sup>42</sup> Despite the standardized interiors, the buildings ranged in size and style from the Mediterranean Revival style of Highland Park Public School (1909, 1913, 1921, 1929; NRHP 1991; VDHR #127-0355) to the Art Deco of Thomas Jefferson High School (1929; NRHP 1993; VDHR #127-0431). Baker Public School clearly shows his ability to work on a smaller scale and to restrain his design exuberance in order to respectfully mirror the earlier Baker School building while maintaining simple, light-filled interiors.

Robinson designed the Baker Annex to complement the original 1871 school building standing just to its southwest. This original school had been a classically designed, three-story, five-bay red brick building with a simplified formal cornice. Likewise, the annex is a two-and-one-half story, three-bay, red brick building with a simplified cornice. This plan conformed to schools built during this time period. As described in the Public Schools of Richmond Multiple Property Documentation Form, schools "were generally two-and-one-half to three-and-one-half stories high, frequently with a raised basement" with as few as eight classrooms spanning a central corridor.<sup>43</sup> Robinson varied from the original with the use of concrete facing on the raised basement, triple windows, and a slightly larger, embellished front entry. The wide, central

Richmond, VA County and State

corridor of each floor is flanked by two large (23 by 30 foot) classrooms; each classroom has a large, triplet bank of windows on two walls for natural sunlight.

These large windows followed the concept of open-air classrooms that was growing in popularity in Richmond during the 1910s. The open-air movement "stressed aspects of health and welfare in school buildings and placed emphasis on better ventilation and increased daylight."<sup>44</sup> Robinson's design of the Baker Annex is a reflection of this movement with the placement of multiple, large windows in each classroom. In 1915, Baker Public School had "one of the best open-air departments in the city".<sup>45</sup>

#### Marcellus Wright & Son

In 1939, Richmond's School Board commissioned Marcellus Wright & Son to design the new Baker Public School that would be built under the auspices of the PWA. Marcellus Eugene Wright Sr. (1881-1962) founded one of the city's best known and most successful architecture firms in 1912. Originally from Hanover County, Wright attended Richmond public schools, Virginia Mechanics Institute, and the School of Applied Art in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and University of Pennsylvania.<sup>46</sup> He returned to Richmond in 1908 where he was employed in the office of Charles M. Robinson before founding his own firm in 1912.<sup>47</sup> Robinson and Wright would maintain their relationship and later collaborate on the 1927 Acca Temple Mosque (NRHP 1999; VDHR#127-5811; now the Altria Theater). In 1939, Wright's son, Marcellus Eugene Wright Jr., became a principal in Marcellus Wright & Son.<sup>48</sup>

Marcellus Wright's firm was one of three architecture companies in Richmond to survive the Great Depression, along with Carneal, Johnston & Wright and Baskervill & Son. Marcellus Wright's brother, Oscar Pendleton Wright, was a partner in Carneal, Johnston, & Wright.<sup>49</sup> The firms Marcellus Wright & Son and Carneal, Johnston & Wright both worked on PWA school projects. In 1937, Carneal, Johnston & Wright designed Maggie L. Walker High School (NRHP 1998; VDHR #127-0414). Baker Public School, drawn by Marcellus Wright & Son in 1938, closely resembles Maggie Walker in terms of the Art Deco style with prominent angled wings and striking limestone ornament.

The Art Deco architectural style was more of an approach to finishes and ornamental treatment than an approach to planning or design philosophy and although Art Deco skyscrapers were built in New York City in the 1920s, it was not until the 1930s that the most prominent Art Deco structures were built in Richmond.<sup>50</sup> These early Art Deco buildings included the Central National Bank Building (1930; NRHP 1979; VDHR #127-0309) and the Virginia Department of Highways and Transportation building (1939; NRHP 2004; VDHR #127-0844).

Though the architectural styles of PWA projects were determined by the local architect, an adaptation of Art Deco was frequently employed. Decorative elements may include a combination of a classical façade, simplified columns and entablature, and Art Deco details.<sup>51</sup> Marcellus Wright & Son appeared to have ascribed to this modified Art Deco style with the design of Baker Public School with is horizontal emphasis. The majority of the simplified

Richmond, VA County and State

decorative details are relegated to the entrance of the school in the form of a shallow fluted pilaster between the windows and doors, a Vitruvian scroll and dental band. The transoms over the entrances and windows at the base of the central stair are adorned with metal fretwork. Above each door is a rectangular bas-relief panel depicting the Seal of the Commonwealth of Virginia, a classical figure in an ornate headpiece, and the Seal of the City of Richmond. A circular relief on the central stair, now hidden by vegetation, represents knowledge, an apt reflection for the school building.<sup>52</sup> As to the school's interior, Marcellus Wright & Son followed the tenets for new public school construction. Chief among the elements deemed important in new school construction were large classrooms, auxiliary rooms to promote other forms of learning, and an auditorium, which at the Baker School doubled as another important element, the gymnasium.<sup>53</sup>

Baker Public School is significant under Criterion C as works of prominent local architects, Charles M. Robinson and Marcellus Wright & Son, and as a good representation of the Art Deco style as applied to an educational building. The 1913 annex building designed by prolific architect Charles M. Robinson is a good example of his educational design on a small scale. He was able to create a harmonious design complementing the original 1871 school building while promoting education design principles popular in his day. The 1939 school building designed by Marcellus Wright & Son exemplifies the function and economy of design espoused during the Great Depression and PWA architecture within its simplicity and classroom design and proportions while maintaining subtle Art Deco nuances.

#### **ENDNOTES**

<sup>1</sup> Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Staff. "Jackson Ward," *National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form.* March 1976; Robert P. Winthrop, *The Jackson Ward Historic District.* (Richmond, VA: Department of Planning and Community Development, 1978), 5.

<sup>5</sup> Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Staff, 1976.

<sup>8</sup> The number of grades was later reduced to 1 through 5 or 6. William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>9</sup> "PWA Grants City \$156,150 For Negro Elementary School".

<sup>10</sup> William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Remaking Virginia: Transformation Through Emancipation: Education," at

http://www.virginiamemory.com/online-exhibitions/exhibits/show/remaking-virginia/education.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Paul L. Weaver, III, "Public Schools of Richmond, Virginia, 1869-1930," *National Register of Historic Places Multiple Property Documentation Form.* 31 October 1992, 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> William H. Deierhoi, Sam. P. Sentelle, Doris A. Bradford, Shirley L. Calihan, *A Mini-History of the Richmond Public Schools 1869 – 1992*, (Accession 36275, Personal papers collection, The Library of Virginia, 1992), 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "PWA Grants City \$156,150 For Negro Elementary School," *Richmond Times Dispatch*. Page 3, 23 September 1938; William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Paul L. Weaver, III, 1992, 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> "Votes \$19,600 For Baker School," *Richmond Times Dispatch* (23 July 1913), 12; William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Paul L. Weaver, III, 1992, 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> "Scholarship in Memory of Malcolm Lee Straus," Richmond Times Dispatch (13 May 1914), 5.

Baker Public School	
Name of Property	

Richmond, VA County and State

<sup>16</sup> William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 23; *Forty-Fifth Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, VA for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1914,* (Richmond, VA: Clyde W. Saunders, 1915), 32.

<sup>17</sup> Forty-Fourth Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public School of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1913, (Richmond, VA: The William Byrd Press, Inc., 1914), 29, 202.
 <sup>18</sup> William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>19</sup> "Richmond, Virginia," *The American Influenza Epidemic of 1918-1919*. Available online at <u>http://www.influenzaarchive.org/cities/city-richmond.html#</u>.

<sup>20</sup> Fifty-six Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1925. (Richmond, VA: Clyde W. Saunders & Sons, Printers, 1925), 122-123.
 <sup>21</sup> William H. Deierhoi, et al., 1992, 22.

<sup>22</sup> The Story of PWA: Building for Recovery. (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1939), 1.

<sup>23</sup> Arthur D. Gayer, *Public Works in Prosperity and Depression*. (National Bureau of Economic Research, 1935), 101.

<sup>24</sup> Public Works Administration, *America Builds: The Record of the PWA*. (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1939), 128.

<sup>25</sup> "PWA Grants City \$156,150 For Negro Elementary School," *Richmond Times Dispatch*. Page 3, (23 September 1938); *Seventy-First Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1940*. (Richmond, VA: Richmond Press, Inc., 1941) 22.

<sup>26</sup> Seventy-First Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1940, 1941, 38.

<sup>27</sup> Seventy-First Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1940, 1941, 37.; Seventy-Second Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1941. (Richmond, VA: Clyde W. Saunders & Sons, Publishers, 1942), 118.

<sup>28</sup> Robert P. Winthrop, 1978, 22.

<sup>29</sup> John M. "Public housing in Richmond," *Church Hill People's News*. Available online at http://chpn.net/news/2009/08/23/public-housing-in-the-east-end 8409/.

http://chpn.net/news/2009/08/23/public-housing-in-the-east-end\_8409/. <sup>30</sup> "Negro Housing Project Named Gilpin Court: Richmond-Born Actor Honored by Authority," *Richmond Times Dispatch*. Page 10. 20 June 1941.

<sup>31</sup> "Fewer Richmond Children Enter School This Year," *Richmond Times Dispatch*. Page 8. 9 September 1943.

<sup>32</sup> Chris Dovi, "The Body Divided," *Richmond Magazine*. 8 March 2011.

<sup>33</sup> Selden Richardson, *Built by Blacks: African American Architecture and Neighborhoods in Richmond, Virginia.* (Richmond, VA: The Alliance to Conserve Old Richmond Neighborhoods, 2007), 87.

<sup>34</sup> Martha E. Dawson and Helen H. Holston, *The Nongraded Approach to Curriculum for Administrators and Teachers of the Disadvantaged, Interim Report.* Available online at http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED056120.pdf. 20.

20. <sup>35</sup> Annual Report of the Richmond Public Schools Fiscal Year 1970-1971, (Richmond, VA: The School Board of the City of Richmond); Annual Report of the Richmond Public Schools Fiscal Year 1978-79, (Richmond, VA: Richmond Public Schools), 16.

<sup>36</sup> Architecture in Downtown Richmond, (Richmond, VA: Whittet & Shepperson Printers, 1982), 242.

<sup>37</sup> David B. Robinson, *The Charles M. Robinson Story*. Available online at

http://www.charlesmrobinson.com/history.html.

<sup>38</sup> Robert P. Winthrop, "Architects of Richmond: Charles M. Robinson," *Architecture Richmond*. (27 January 2015), Available online at <u>http://architecturerichmond.com/2015/01/27/architects-of-richmond-charles-m-robinson/</u>.

<sup>39</sup> David B. Robinson.

<sup>40</sup>Robert P. Winthrop, 2015.

<sup>41</sup> Robert P. Winthrop, 2015.

<sup>42</sup> Robert P. Winthrop, 2015.

<sup>43</sup> Paul L. Weaver, III, 1992, 15-16.

Baker Public School	
Name of Property	

Richmond, VA County and State

<sup>44</sup> Wei Wu and Edward Ng, "A review of the development of daylighting in schools," *Lighting Research and* Technology, (v.35,n.2, June 2003), 112.

<sup>45</sup> "Children Grow Rosy in Open-Air Schools," Richmond Times-Dispatch (14 January 1915),

<sup>46</sup> Architecture in Downtown Richmond, 1982.

<sup>47</sup> The Gombach Group, "Broad Street Commercial Historic District," *Living Places*. Available online at http://www.livingplaces.com/VA/Independent Cities/Richmond City/Broad Street Commercial Historic District.

html. <sup>48</sup> Jenifer B. Buckman, "Richmond architect Marcellus Wright dies," *Richmond Times-Dispatch*, (15 March 2002), B-1.

<sup>49</sup> Robert P. Winthrop, "Architects of Richmond: Carneal & Johnston," Architecture Richmond, (14 November

2013), Available online at http://architecturerichmond.com/2013/11/14/architects-of-richmond-carneal-johnston/.

<sup>50</sup> Mary Harding Sadler, "Maggie L. Walker High School," National Register of Historic Places Registration Form, (4 May 1998). <sup>51</sup> Robert Leighninger, "Public Works Administration Architecture," *KnowLA*, 1 February 2011, Available online at

http://www.knowla.org/entry/495/. <sup>52</sup> "Baker School Sculpture," Smithsonian Institution Research Information System. Available online at http://sirisartinventories.si.edu/ipac20/ipac.jsp?session=144O2S08061S3.173&profile=ariall&source=~!siartinventories&view =subscriptionsummary&uri=full=3100001~!331598~!32&ri=1&aspect=Keyword&menu=search&ipp=20&spp=20 <u>&staffonly=&term=baker+school&index=.GW&uindex=&aspect=Keyword&menu=search&ri=1</u>. <sup>53</sup> Alice Barrows, "Schools" in *Public Buildings: A Survey of Architecture of Projects Constructed by Federal and* 

Other Governmental Bodies Between the Years 1933 and 1939 with the Assistance of the Public Works Administration by C.W. Short and R. Stanley-Brown, (Washington, D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 1939), XXI.

# 8. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

Architecture in Downtown Richmond. Richmond, VA: Whittet & Shepperson Printers, 1982.

"Baker School Sculpture," Smithsonian Institution Research Information System. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://siris-</u> <u>artinventories.si.edu/ipac20/ipac.jsp?session=144O2S08061S3.173&profile=ariall&sourc</u> <u>e=~!siartinventories&view=subscriptionsummary&uri=full=3100001~!331598~!32&ri=</u> <u>1&aspect=Keyword&menu=search&ipp=20&staffonly=&term=baker+school&</u> index=.GW&uindex=&aspect=Keyword&menu=search&ri=1.

- Barrows, Alice Barrows. "Schools," in Public Buildings: A Survey of Architecture of Projects Constructed by Federal and Other Governmental Bodies Between the Years 1933 and 1939 with the Assistance of the Public Works Administration. edited by C.W. Short and R. Stanley-Brown. Washington, D.C.: United States Government Printing Office, 1939.
- Buckman, Jenifer B. "Richmond architect Marcellus Wright dies," *Richmond Times-Dispatch*. (Richmond, VA) March 15, 2002.
- "Children Grow Rosy in Open-Air Schools," *Richmond Times-Dispatch* (Richmond, VA) January 14, 1915.
- Dawson, Martha E. and Helen H. Holston. *The Nongraded Approach to Curriculum for Administrators and Teachers of the Disadvantaged, Interim Report.* Accessed November 2015. <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED056120.pdf</u>.
- Deierhoi, William H., Sam. P. Sentelle, Doris A. Bradford, and Shirley L. Calihan, *A Mini-History of the Richmond Public Schools 1869 1992*. Accession 36275, Personal papers collection, The Library of Virginia, 1992.
- Dovi, Chris. "The Body Divided," Richmond Magazine. March 8, 2011.
- "Fewer Richmond Children Enter School This Year," *Richmond Times-Dispatch*. (Richmond, VA) September 9, 1943.
- Gayer, Arthur D. *Public Works in Prosperity and Depression*. National Bureau of Economic Research, 1935.
- The Gombach Group. "Broad Street Commercial Historic District," *Living Places*. Accessed November 2015.

Richmond, VA County and State

http://www.livingplaces.com/VA/Independent\_Cities/Richmond\_City/Broad\_Street\_Commercial\_Historic\_District.html.

- John M. "Public housing in Richmond," *Church Hill People's News*. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://chpn.net/news/2009/08/23/public-housing-in-the-east-end\_8409/</u>.
- Leighninger, Robert. "Public Works Administration Architecture," *KnowLA*. February 1, 2011. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://www.knowla.org/entry/495/</u>.
- "Negro Housing Project Named Gilpin Court: Richmond-Born Actor Honored by Authority," *Richmond Times-Dispatch*. (Richmond, VA) June 20, 1941.
- Public Works Administration. *America Builds: The Record of the PWA*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1939.
- "PWA Grants City \$156,150 For Negro Elementary School," *Richmond Times-Dispatch* (Richmond, VA) September 23, 1938
- Richardson, Selden. *Built by Blacks: African American Architecture and Neighborhoods in Richmond, Virginia.* Richmond, VA: The Alliance to Conserve Old Richmond Neighborhoods, 2007.
- Richmond School Board. Forty-Fourth Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public School of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1913. Richmond, VA: The William Byrd Press, Inc., 1914.
- -----. Forty-Fifth Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, VA for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1914. Richmond, VA: Clyde W. Saunders, 1915.
- ----. Fifty-six Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1925. Richmond, VA: Clyde W. Saunders & Sons, Printers, 1925
- -----. Seventy-First Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1940. Richmond, VA: Richmond Press, Inc., 1941.
- -----. Seventy-Second Annual Report of the Superintendent of the Public Schools of the City of Richmond, Virginia for the Scholastic Year Ending June 30, 1941. Richmond, VA: Clyde W. Saunders & Sons, Publishers, 1942.
- -----. Annual Report of the Richmond Public Schools Fiscal Year 1970-1971. Richmond, VA: The School Board of the City of Richmond.
- -----. Annual Report of the Richmond Public Schools Fiscal Year 1978-79. Richmond, VA: Richmond Public Schools.
- "Richmond, Virginia," *The American Influenza Epidemic of 1918-1919*. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://www.influenzaarchive.org/cities/city-richmond.html#</u>.

Richmond, VA County and State

- Robinson, David B. *The Charles M. Robinson Story*. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://www.charlesmrobinson.com/history.html</u>.
- Sadler, Mary Harding. "Maggie L. Walker High School," *National Register of Historic Places Registration Form.* May 4, 1998.
- "Scholarship in Memory of Malcolm Lee Straus," *Richmond Times-Dispatch* (Richmond, VA) May 13, 1914.
- *The Story of PWA: Building for Recovery*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 1939.
- Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Staff. "Jackson Ward," National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form. March 1976.
- "Votes \$19,600 For Baker School," *Richmond Times-Dispatch* (Richmond, VA) July 23, 1913.
- Weaver, Paul L., III, "Public Schools of Richmond, Virginia, 1869-1930," *National Register* of Historic Places Multiple Property Documentation Form. 31 October 1992.
- Winthrop, Robert P. *The Jackson Ward Historic District*. Richmond, VA: Department of Planning and Community Development, 1978.
- -----. "Architects of Richmond: Carneal & Johnston," *Architecture Richmond*. November 14, 2013. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://architecturerichmond.com/2013/11/14/architects-of-richmond-carneal-johnston/</u>.
- -----. "Architects of Richmond: Charles M. Robinson," *Architecture Richmond*. January, 27 2015. Accessed November 2015. <u>http://architecturerichmond.com/2015/01/27/architects-of-richmond-charles-m-robinson/</u>.
- Wu, Wei and Edward Ng "A review of the development of daylighting in schools," in *Lighting Research and Technology*. v.35, n.2, June 2003.

#### Previous documentation on file (NPS):

- \_\_\_\_\_ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested
- \_\_\_\_\_ previously listed in the National Register
- \_\_\_\_\_ previously determined eligible by the National Register
- \_\_\_\_\_ designated a National Historic Landmark
- \_\_\_\_\_ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #\_\_\_\_\_
- \_\_\_\_\_ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # \_\_\_\_\_\_
- \_\_\_\_\_ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # \_\_\_\_\_

#### Primary location of additional data:

- <u>X</u> State Historic Preservation Office
- \_\_\_\_ Other State agency
- \_\_\_\_\_ Federal agency
- \_\_\_\_ Local government
- \_\_\_\_ University
- \_\_\_\_ Other

Name of repository: Virginia Department of Historic Resources, Richmond, VA

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): VDHR File #127-0877

#### 9. Geographical Data

#### Acreage of Property 1.69 Acres

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates

# Latitude/Longitude Coordinates (decimal degrees)

Datum if other than WGS84: (enter coordinates to 6 decimal places)	_
1. Latitude: 37.551678	Longitude: -77.438142
2. Latitude:	Longitude:
3. Latitude:	Longitude:
4. Latitude:	Longitude:

# Or

**UTM References** Datum (indicated on USGS map):

NAD 1927 or	NAD 1983	
1. Zone:	Easting:	Northing:
2. Zone:	Easting:	Northing:
3. Zone:	Easting:	Northing:
4. Zone:	Easting :	Northing:

# Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

Richmond, VA County and State

The Baker Public School is located on the block enclosed by W. Charity, St. John, W. Baker, and St. Paul Streets in the North Jackson Ward neighborhood of Richmond, Virginia. It is identified by the City of Richmond as parcel N0000126001. The true and correct historic boundaries are shown on the attached Location Map and Sketch Map.

#### Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

The boundary includes the 1939 Baker Public School building, the 1913 Baker Annex, the enclosed parking area, as well as the historic setting and acreage historically associated with the school during its years of operation.

#### **10. Form Prepared By**

name/title: Dara A. Friedberg
organization: Dutton + Associates, LLC
street & number: <u>1115 Crowder Drive</u>
city or town: Midlothian state: Virginia zip code: 23112
telephone: <u>804-897-1960</u>
date: November 2015

#### Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

- Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
- **Sketch map** for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all photographs to this map.
- Additional items: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.)

#### Photographs

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels (minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn't need to be labeled on every photograph.

#### Photo Log

Name of Property: Baker Public School City or Vicinity: Richmond County: Independent City Photographer: Catherine Easterling

State: Virginia

Baker Public School Name of Property

> Photo 1 of 35: 1939 Building Northwest (front) façade, view southeast Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 2 of 35: 1939 Building Entry on northwest façade, view southeast Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 3 of 35: 1939 Building Detail of entry on northwest façade, view southeast Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 4 of 35: 1939 Building Detail of window on entry façade, view southeast Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 5 of 35: 1939 Building Detail of stairway on entry façade, view northeast Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 6 of 35: 1939 Building Detail of entrance doors, view east Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 7 of 35: 1939 Building Detail of northwest elevation of southwest wing, view southeast Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 8 of 35: 1939 Building Northwest and southwest elevations of southwest wing, view north Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 9 of 35: 1939 Building Northeast and southeast elevations of northeast wing, view west/southwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 10 of 35: 1939 Building South elevation of northeast wing, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 11 of 35: 1939 Building Central rear wing, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015 Richmond, VA County and State

Baker Public School Name of Property Richmond, VA County and State

Photo 12 of 35: 1939 Building Juncture of southwest wing and central rear wing, view north Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 13 of 35: 1939 Building First floor, corridor in northeast wing, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 14 of 35: 1939 Building First floor, corridor in northeast wing, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 15 of 35: 1939 Building Typical first floor classroom Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 16 of 35: 1939 Building Typical first floor classroom Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 17 of 35: 1939 Building Detail of first floor classroom cabinetry Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 18 of 35: 1939 Building Auditorium/gymnasium, view southeast Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 19 of 35: 1939 Building Auditorium/gymnasium doors, view southwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 20 of 35: 1939 Building Center stairwell in southwest wing Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 21 of 35: 1939 Building Second floor, corridor in northeast wing, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 22 of 35: 1939 Building Second floor, corridor in northeast wing, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Baker Public School Name of Property

> Photo 23 of 35: 1939 Building Typical second floor classroom Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 24 of 35: 1939 Building Typical second floor classroom Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 25 of 35: 1939 Building Basement, typical basement door and transom Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 26 of 35: 1939 Building Basement, corridor in southwest wing, view northeast Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 27 of 35: 1939 Building Basement, cafeteria, view northwest Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 28 of 35: 1913 Building North and west elevations Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 29 of 35: 1913 Building South and east elevations Date Photographed: August 2015

Photo 30 of 35: 1913 Building First floor corridor Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 31 of 35: 1913 Building First floor stairwell Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 32 of 35: 1913 Building Second floor corridor Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 33 of 35: 1913 Building Typical classroom Date Photographed: July 2015 Richmond, VA County and State

Baker Public School

Name of Property

Richmond, VA County and State

Photo 34 of 35: 1913 Building Typical classroom Date Photographed: July 2015

Photo 35 of 35: 1913 Building Divided classroom Date Photographed: July 2015

**Paperwork Reduction Act Statement:** This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.).

**Estimated Burden Statement**: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.



Baker Public School, Richmond, Virginia, 2016 VDHR# 127-0877 Latitude: 37.551678 Longitude: -77.438142





Baker Public School, Richmond, Virginia, 2016 VDHR# 127-0877 SKETCH MAP Historic Boundary

1939 Building - Contributing

1913 Annex - Contributing



VDHR# 127-0877 Photo Key

Historic Boundary

1



Baker Public School, Richmond, Virginia, 2016 VDHR# 127-0877 Photo Key (1939 Building, Basement Floor Plan)

<sup>1</sup> Photo Direction



VDHR# 127-0877 Photo Key (1939 Building, First Floor Plan)



# Baker Public School, Richmond, Virginia, 2016 VDHR# 127-0877 Photo Key (1939 Building, First Floor Plan)


Photo Key (1913 Building, First Floor Plan)









































































## UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

REQUESTED ACTION: NOMINATION

PROPERTY Baker Public School NAME:

MULTIPLE NAME:

STATE & COUNTY: VIRGINIA, Richmond

DATE RECEIVED: 7/01/16 DATE OF PENDING LIST: 7/26/16 DATE OF 16TH DAY: 8/10/16 DATE OF 45TH DAY: 8/16/16 DATE OF WEEKLY LIST:

REFERENCE NUMBER: 16000537

REASONS FOR REVIEW:

APPEAL:	N	DATA PROBLEM:	N	LANDSCAPE:	N	LESS THAN 50 YEARS:	N
OTHER:	N	PDIL:	N	PERIOD:	N	PROGRAM UNAPPROVED:	N
REQUEST :	N	SAMPLE:	N	SLR DRAFT:	Ν	NATIONAL:	Ν

COMMENT WAIVER: N

ACCEPT

8.15 - 16 DATE REJECT

ABSTRACT/SUMMARY COMMENTS:

RETURN

Entered in The National Rogister of Historic Places

RECOM./CRITERIA

REVIEWER\_\_\_\_\_ DISCIPLINE\_\_\_\_\_ TELEPHONE\_\_\_\_\_ DATE\_\_\_\_\_

DOCUMENTATION see attached comments Y/N see attached SLR Y/N

If a nomination is returned to the nominating authority, the nomination is no longer under consideration by the NPS.



## **RECEIVED 2280**

JUL - 1 2016

COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA Register of Historic Places National Park Service

## **Department of Historic Resources**

2801 Kensington Avenue, Richmond, Virginia 23221

Julie V. Langan Director

Tel: (804) 367-2323 Fax: (804) 367-2391 www.dhr.virginia.gov

Molly Joseph Ward Secretary of Natural Resources

June 27, 2016

Mr. Paul Loether Chief, National Register of Historic Places and National Historic Landmarks Programs National Park Service 2280 National Register of Historic Places 1201 I ("Eye") Street, N.W. Washington D.C. 20005

## Re: Baker Public School, City of Richmond, Virginia

Dear Mr. Loether:

The enclosed disk contains the true and correct copy of the nomination for the **Baker Public School** to the National Register of Historic Places. Submitted for your review, the nomination has been considered, and approved, by the State Review Board and the Virginia SHPO has recommended it for listing. Any letters of comment or objection have been copied at the end of the nomination material, along with any FPO notification letters.

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. My direct phone line is 804-482-6439.

Sincerely,

Lena Sweeten McDonald National/State Register Historian

Enclosures

Administrative Services 10 Courthouse Ave. Petersburg, VA 23803 Tel: (804) 862-6408 Fax: (804) 862-6196 Eastern Region Office 2801 Kensington Avenue Richmond, VA 23221 Tel: (804) 367-2323 Fax: (804) 367-2391 Western Region Office 962 Kime Lane Salem, VA 24153 Tel: (540) 387-5443 Fax: (540) 387-5446 Northern Region Office 5357 Main Street PO Box 519 Stephens City, VA 22655 Tel: (540) 868-7029 Fax: (540) 868-7033